STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED  
FEB 07 2014  
SC Court of Appeals

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Greenville County

William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

GREGORY ALLAN IVERY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-213216  
\_\_\_\_\_

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

CARMEN V. GANJEHSANI  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The Trial Court erred in admitting a video recording of the alleged drug transaction where the State failed to properly authenticate the video when it did not present any witness at trial who could testify that the video accurately depicted the alleged drug transaction.
  
- II. The Allen charge given by the Trial Court was unconstitutionally coercive where (1) it was improperly directed to the sole juror voting not guilty; and (2) the Trial Court strongly urged the jury to return a verdict by apprising the jury of the time, expense and effort that would be incurred if the case had to be retried.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 12, 2012, Appellant Gregory Allan Ivery was indicted by the Greenville County Grand Jury for (1) distribution of crack cocaine in violation of S.C. CODE ANN. § 44-53-375; and (2) distribution of crack cocaine within ½ mile of a school or park in violation of § 44-53-445. R.106.

A trial was held before the Honorable William Seals and a jury on October 11, 2012.

R. 1. Ivery was represented by Ernest Hamilton, and the State was represented by Assistant Solicitor Lauren Davis Price. Id.

After informing the court that it could not reach a decision with “eleven guilty, one not guilty,” the Trial Court gave an Allen<sup>1</sup> charge, after which the jury returned a verdict of guilty on both counts. R. 95, l. 6 – 99, l. 4. The Trial Court sentenced Ivery to (1) twenty-three years as a third offender for distribution of crack cocaine; and (2) ten years concurrent on the proximity to a school or park charge. R. 104, ll. 10-14.

Ivery timely filed and served his Notice of Appeal on October 18, 2012.

---

<sup>1</sup> Allen v. United States, 164 U.S. 492 (1896).

## ARGUMENT

- I. The Trial Court erred in admitting a video recording of the alleged drug transaction where the State failed to properly authenticate the video when it did not present any witness at trial who could testify that the video accurately depicted the alleged drug transaction.**

At trial, Detective Charles Keith Cothran testified that an individual named James Grant signed an agreement to work as a confidential informant with the Greenville City Police Department. R. 24, l. 5 – 25, l. 25. Grant asked if there was anything he could do for the police department because he had been charged with shoplifting and therefore, he decided to become a confidential informant in an effort to try to get assistance with his shoplifting charge. R. 37, ll. 14-21; 49, ll. 3-10.

Grant informed Detective Cothran that he could purchase crack cocaine from an individual named Greg Ivery. R. 24, ll. 9-14. Detective Cothran told Grant to arrange a deal for June 30, 2011 and to come to the police department that day. R. 26, ll. 2-4.

On June 30, 2011, Detective Cothran testified that Grant arrived around 11:40 a.m. and he equipped Grant with a hidden audio and video recording device. R. 27, l. 7 – 29, l. 17. Detective Cothran also said that Grant explained the he was going to buy \$140 worth of crack cocaine from Ivery, and Detective Cothran accordingly gave Grant \$140 of police funds for the purpose of purchasing crack cocaine from Ivery. R. 29, ll. 19-24.

Detective Cothran then said that he and other detectives got in their vehicles, Grant got in his own vehicle, and Grant then followed the officers to the deal location which was purportedly Ivery's residence. R. 30, l. 23 – 31, l. 9.

Detective Cothran testified that initially Ivery was not home, but they waited a little while and Ivery arrived. Grant then allegedly told Ivery he wanted to purchase \$140 worth of crack and gave Ivery the \$140 worth of police funds. Ivery then allegedly went inside

the home to retrieve the crack cocaine and brought it to Grant. Grant then left and returned to the police department. R. 31, l. 14 – 32, l. 1.

Detective Cothran did not physically see or observe any of the alleged drug transaction. R. 32, ll. 2-4.

At trial, the State moved to admit the video recording of the alleged drug transaction into evidence and publish it to the jury. R. 42, l. 21 – 43, l. 7; State's Ex. 4 (video). Ivery's counsel objected on the ground that Detective Cothran could not authenticate the video because he was not in the video and did not observe the events that occurred in the video. R. 43, ll. 9-13. The Trial Court overruled Ivery's objection and the video was admitted into evidence and played for the jury in open court. R. 43, ll. 14-22. Ivery renewed his objection to the admissibility of the video recording at the close of the State's case because Detective Cothran could not verify that the video was an accurate portrayal of the alleged transaction. R. 78, ll. 14-21.

The Trial Court erred in admitting the video recording of the alleged drug transaction into evidence because the State did not lay a proper foundation for its admissibility. South Carolina Rule of Evidence 901(a) requires "authentication or identification as a condition precedent to" the admissibility of evidence. This requirement "is satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims." Rule 901(a), SCRE.

Rule 901(b)(1) provides that authentication can be accomplished by testimony from someone familiar with and with knowledge of the contents of the document or recording. Authentication can therefore be accomplished through someone with knowledge of the events depicted on a videotape. See State v. Campbell, 259 S.C. 339, 344, 191 S.E.2d 770,

773 (1972) (“Normally it is sufficient to justify admittance of photographs into evidence if a person familiar with the scene can say that the pictures truly represent the scene involved.”)

The State presented no witness at trial who could testify that the video accurately depicted the alleged drug transaction. Detective Cothran conceded he did not observe the alleged transaction. R. 32, ll. 2-4. While Detective Cothran testified that he could hear the conversation during the alleged transaction, he never verified at trial that it was Ivery’s voice on the audio. Id.; cf. State v. Aragon, 354 S.C. 334, 336, 579 S.E.2d 626, 626-27 (Ct. App. 2003) (finding the State properly authenticated taped telephone conversation between victim and defendant where victim had known defendant for over ten years and recognized his voice during the conversation).

At trial, Grant denied ever purchasing any crack from Ivery and denied that it was him appearing in the video recording. Grant further denied circling Ivery’s picture in a subsequent photo line-up. R. 64, l. 9 – 65, l. 19; 68, ll. 18 – 21. Therefore, the State presented no witness who could testify that the video recording accurately represented the events that occurred during the alleged drug transaction.

Courts from other jurisdictions have allowed the admission of a video recording of a drug transaction where the prosecution made a proper foundation for admission through the testimony of someone who witnessed the occurrence videotaped. See United States v. Rivera-Maldonado, 194 F.3d 224, 236-37 (1st Cir. 1999) (finding admission of drug transaction videotapes proper where agent who had actually videotaped the crime scenes testified that “each daily video accurately reflected what he had observed as it was being taped”); United States v. Medina-Herrera, 606 F.2d 770, 774 (7th Cir. 1979) (finding “proper foundation for the admission of tapes was made through the testimony of agents

who witnessed the defendant's actions and made the tapes"); Trull v. State, 811 So.2d 243, 246 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) (holding videotape of the drug transfer was properly authenticated where the agent testified that he "was present when the events on the videotape transpired, and that the video was an accurate depiction of the events as they transpired that day.").

Where the State did not offer the testimony of anyone who witnessed the alleged drug transaction between Grant and Ivery, the Trial Court improperly admitted the video recording where the State failed to make a proper foundation for its admission. The Trial Court committed an error of law by admitting a videotape without a proper foundation, and this Court should reverse the Trial Court's ruling on the admissibility of this evidence where the Trial Court abused its discretion. See State v. Lee, 399 S.C. 521, 526-27, 732 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2012) (providing appellate standard of review for trial court's ruling on the admission of evidence).

The Trial Court's improper admission of the video recording was not harmless where there was a reasonable probability that the jury's verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence." Lee, 399 S.C. at 527, 732 S.E.2d at 228. Here, the State heavily relied on the videotape to identify Ivery as the individual who allegedly sold drugs to Grant. In the State's opening statement, the solicitor informed the jury that the entire drug transaction was recorded on video and let the jury know that they would be able to view the video. R. 11, ll. 9-12.

During trial, Detective Cothran could only identify Ivery as the person who allegedly sold the drugs by watching the video since he did not observe the transaction firsthand. R. 44, ll. 12-19.

During the State's closing, the solicitor also highlighted the video, repeatedly reminding the jury that they saw the entire video of the transaction and that they could watch the video again if they needed to. R. 80, ll. 24-25; 81, ll. 9-12; 81, l. 24 – 82, l. 1.

During their deliberations, the jury asked to view the video of the transaction again and the video was replayed for them. R. 94, l. 22 – 95, l. 1.

Without the video recording, the State's identification of Ivery as the one who sold drugs to Grant would have rested primarily on Grant's pre-trial identification of Ivery, a witness who then declined to identify Ivery at trial as the seller and who denied ever circling Ivery's picture in a photo line-up. R. 64, l. 9 – 65, l. 19; 68, ll. 18-21. Although it was a jury determination as to the credibility of Grant, the video recording, relied upon so heavily by the State under these circumstances, was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Accordingly, it was error for the Trial Court to have admitted the video recording into evidence, and Ivery is entitled to a new trial.

**II. The Allen charge given by the Trial Court was unconstitutionally coercive where (1) it was improperly directed to the sole juror voting not guilty; and (2) the Trial Court strongly urged the jury to return a verdict by apprising the jury of the time, expense and effort that would be incurred if the case had to be retried.**

During jury deliberations, the jury sent a note back to the court which stated, "We can not reach a decision. Eleven guilty, one not guilty, the juror voting not guilty will not . . . change their vote under any circumstances." R. 95, ll. 6-9. The Trial Court decided to give an Allen<sup>2</sup> charge over the objection of Ivery's defense counsel who stated that he would "accept that juror's opinion." R. 95, ll. 10-18.

The Trial Court's gave the following Allen charge to the jury:

Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, I'm going to give you one more charge and then we'll go from there. Members of the jury, when a matter is in dispute, it isn't always easy for even two people to agree so when 12 people must agree it becomes even more difficult. In most case[s], absolute certainty can not be reached or expected.

However, you have a duty to make every reasonable effort to reach a verdict. In doing this, you should consult with one another, express your own views, and listen to the opinions of your fellow jurors, tell each other how you feel and why you feel that way, discuss your differences.

Although the verdict of your jury must be unanimous, every one of you has a right to your own opinion. The verdict that you agree to must be your own verdict, the result of your own convictions, and you should not give up your firmly held beliefs merely to be in agreement with your fellow jurors. The majority should consider the minority's opinion and visa versa. You should carefully consider and respect the opinions of each other and re-evaluate your position for reasonableness, correctness and impartiality.

You must lay aside all outside matters and re-examine the questions before you based on the law and evidence in this case.

I want you to understand if you can not agree on a verdict in this case, we're just going to have to come back on[e] week with another jury pool, select another jury of 12 people and one alternate. Judge is going to have to be here to try the case. Lawyers are going to have to be up here and try the case

---

<sup>2</sup> Allen v. United States, 164 U.S. 492 (1896).

again, the bailiffs will have to be here, law clerk will have to be here; all of that time, all of that effort, all of those expenses associated with trying this case again, and I don't see how another group of 12 people will do a better job than the 12 of you.

So I would ask that you go back in your jury room, just re-examine your beliefs, think about what you're going, respect each other's opinion and try to make a decision within a reasonable amount of time.

R. 95, l. 20 – 97, l. 9.

The jury returned that same evening with a verdict of guilty for distribution of crack cocaine and guilty for distribution of crack cocaine in proximity to a school or park. R. 98, l. 23 – 99, l. 4.

Ivery's defense counsel argued that with respect to the Allen charge, the jury was "coerced into reaching a verdict." R. 101, ll. 4-6.

"Whether an Allen charge is unconstitutionally coercive must be judged in its context and under all the circumstances." Tucker v. Catoe, 346 S.C. 483, 490, 552 S.E.2d 712, 716 (2001) (quoting Lowenfield v. Phelps, 484 U.S. 231, 237 (1988)). This State's Supreme Court has explained:

In South Carolina state courts, an Allen charge cannot be directed to the minority voters on the jury panel. Instead, an Allen charge should be even-handed, directing both the majority and the minority to consider the other's views. A trial judge has a duty to urge, but not coerce, a jury to reach a verdict. It is not coercion to charge every juror has a right to his own opinion and need not give up the opinion merely to reach a verdict.

Green v. State, 351 S.C. 184, 194, 569 S.E.2d 318, 323 (2002) (internal citations omitted).

In Tucker, the South Carolina Supreme Court adopted the standard set by the United States Supreme Court in Lowenfield to determine whether an Allen charge is unconstitutionally coercive. In Lowenfield, the Supreme Court considered, among other

things, the following factors:

- (1) the charge did not speak specifically to the minority juror(s);
- (2) the judge did not include in his charge any language such as “You have got to reach a decision in this case;” [and]
- (3) there was no inquiry into the jury's numerical division, which is generally coercive.

Tucker, 346 S.C. at 492, 552 S.E.2d at 716 (citing Lowenfield, 484 U.S. at 237).

Applying the above factors, the Supreme Court found the Allen charge given in Tucker was unconstitutionally coercive. Specifically, the court concluded (1) viewed as a whole, the jury charge was directed to the minority juror where the trial court knew there was only one holdout juror; (2) while the trial court did not use mandatory language such as “You must return a verdict,” Tucker's jury was told of the importance of a unanimous verdict; (3) even though the jury informed the trial judge of their numerical split, the judge failed to instruct the jurors not to disclose their division in the future; and (4) Tucker's jury returned a verdict approximately an hour and a half after receiving the Allen charge. Tucker, 346 S.C. at 492-94, 552 S.E.2d at 717-18.

The Allen charge given by the Trial Court in this case was similarly coercive. While the Trial Court informed the “majority [to] consider the minority’s position and visa versa,” the charge as a whole was nevertheless directed to the minority juror when the Trial Court knew that there was only one juror who was voting not guilty and who, according to the rest of the jurors, would not “change their vote under any circumstances.” R. 95, ll. 6-10. In its charge, the Trial Court asked for a re-evaluation of “your position for reasonableness, correctness and impartiality,” and further instructed that “[y]ou must lay aside all outside matters and re-examine the questions before you

based on the law and evidence in this case.” R. 96, ll. 13-19. In the conclusion of its charge, the Trial Court again asked for a “re-examin[ation of] your beliefs.” R. 97, l. 7.

Clearly when the trial judge knew that there was only one holdout juror, language directing a re-evaluation and re-examination of your position was aimed at the minority juror. This is very much like the charge in the Tucker case, which also did not specifically reference the minority juror but commanded the jurors to “tell the other jurors how you feel about the case and why you think as you do” and reminded the jurors that “[i]t becomes each of your duties to exchange views with the other jurors, and you should listen to each other and give to the other’s thought such meaning as you think it should have.” Tucker, 346 S.C. at 493; 552 S.E.2d at 717.

The Supreme Court found the Allen charge given in the Tucker case coercive and aimed at the minority juror where the trial judge knew that there was only one holdout juror. Id. The Allen charge given by the Trial Court in this case is likewise coercive where the Trial Court directed its charge to the lone minority juror voting not guilty. Cf. Green v. State, 351 S.C. 184, 195, 569 S.E.2d 318, 324 (2002) (finding Allen charge was not coercive where petitioner failed to present any evidence that showed the minority wished to acquit); State v. Jones, 320 S.C. 555, 558-59, 466 S.E.2d 733, 734-35 (Ct. App. 1996) (determining Allen charge was not coercive where trial judge knew numerical alignment of the jury but not how the jury was aligned concerning guilt or innocence).

In addition, while the Trial Court here did not use mandatory language such as “You must return a verdict,” the Trial Court nevertheless used language strongly urging the jury to return a verdict, reminding them of the time, expense and effort that would occur if the case had to be retried because of the jury’s failure to reach a unanimous

verdict. R. 96, l. 20 – 97, l. 5; Tucker, 346 S.C. at 493, 552 S.E.2d at 717 (finding Allen charge coercive where jury was told of importance of unanimous verdict).

Finally, while the jury volunteered its numerical division and alignment on guilt to the Trial Court, the Trial Court failed to instruct the jury not to state its division in the future should it be deadlocked again. Dawson v. State, 352 S.C. 15, 20, 572 S.E.2d 445, 447 (2002).

Accordingly, the Allen charge given by the Trial Court under the totality of the circumstances was unconstitutionally coercive, and Ivery is entitled to a new trial. Tucker at 494, 552 S.E.2d at 718.

**CONCLUSION**

Based upon the foregoing arguments, Appellant Gregory Allan Ivery requests this Court to reverse his convictions and remand for a new trial.