STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County
Honorable William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2012-213216

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

GREGORY ALLAN IVERY,

Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street, Suite 325
Greenville County Courthouse
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
DEC 23 2013
SC Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial judge properly admitted an audio-visual recording of a confidential informant's narcotics transaction with Appellant after the State authenticated the recording by presenting the testimony of an officer who installed recording equipment on the confidential informant, was familiar with the area where the transaction took place, heard the transaction as it occurred by using a listening device, and confirmed that the recording was a true and accurate depiction of the transaction that he heard occur.

Appellant contends the trial judge abused his discretion in admitting the audio-visual recording of Grant's narcotics transaction with Appellant. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains that the recording was not properly authenticated because the State failed to offer the testimony of anyone who actually visually observed the transaction take place. However, such testimony was **not** required in order for the recording to be properly authenticated. Instead, in order for the recording to be authenticated, the State was required to introduce sufficient evidence to support a finding that the recording was what it was purported to be, and the State satisfied that threshold requirement by introducing the testimony of the officer who installed the recording equipment on Grant, was familiar with the area where the transaction took place, heard the transaction as it occurred by using a listening device, and confirmed the recording was a true and accurate depiction of the transaction that he heard occur. Because the officer's testimony confirmed that the recording was exactly what it was purported to be, the trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion in finding the recording had been authenticated and in admitting it into evidence during trial. Accordingly, Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

The reception or exclusion of evidence is a matter left largely to the sound discretion of the trial judge. State v. Groome, 274 S.C. 189, 190-191, 262 S.E.2d 31, 32

(1980). On appeal, appellate courts give “great deference” to trial judges when reviewing evidentiary rulings. State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 625, 703 S.E.2d 226, 230 (2010); see State v. Bixby, 388 S.C. 528, 556, 698 S.E.2d 572, 587 (2010) (“[D]eference is due to the trial court’s admission of the evidence.”). Moreover, an appellate court will not reverse a trial judge’s decision to admit or exclude evidence absent a clear prejudicial abuse of the trial judge’s broad discretion in evidentiary matters. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002); see State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847-848 (2006) (“The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice.”); State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 176, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995) (“A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice.”). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000).

In general, evidence must be authenticated before it can be admitted. State v. Aragon, 354 S.C. 334, 336, 579 S.E.2d 626, 627 (Ct. App. 2003). In order for evidence to be authenticated, the party offering the evidence must establish that the evidence is what it is claimed to be. Id.; see Rule 901(a), SCRE (“The requirement of authentication or identification as a condition precedent to admissibility is satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims.”). That requirement can be satisfied in numerous ways, including through the presentation of the testimony of a witness with knowledge that the matter is what it is purported to be. Rule 901(b)(1), SCRE. Significantly, direct proof is **not** required in order to authenticate

a particular piece of evidence, and, instead, evidence can be authenticated through indirect or circumstantial evidence. Winburn v. Minnesota Mut. Life Ins. Co., 261 S.C. 568, 576-577, 201 S.E.2d 372, 376 (1973). Once the threshold requirement of authentication has been met, the evidence can then properly be admitted during trial. State v. Rich, 293 S.C. 172, 173, 359 S.E.2d 281, 282 (1987).

In the case sub judice, the trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion in admitting the recording of the narcotics transaction because the testimony of Detective Cothran sufficiently established that the recording was a true and accurate depiction of the transaction. Critically, although Detective Cothran did not personally see the transaction as it was taking place, Detective Cothran heard the transaction as it was occurring through the use of a listening device. Because Detective Cothran heard the entire transaction as it was taking place, he had direct, personal knowledge of the events that occurred during the transaction and was able to confirm that the audio and video recording of the transaction was a true and accurate representation of what he had heard. Cf. Aragon, 354 S.C. at 336, 579 S.E.2d at 627 (finding an audio recording of a telephone conversation was properly authenticated and admitted where a person who heard the conversation testified that the recording fairly and accurately represented the conversation). Specifically, Detective Cothran testified during trial that he installed audio and video recording equipment on Grant, the recording equipment was functioning properly at the time, he monitored and heard the transaction as it occurred by using a listening device, he was familiar with the area where the transaction occurred based on his patrol experience, and the recording of the transaction offered into evidence was a true and accurate depiction of Grant's transaction with Appellant. Cf. Crutcher v. State, 68 So. 3d 724, 733 (Miss. Ct. App. 2011) (holding a videotape of a narcotics transaction

was sufficiently authenticated despite the fact that the officers involved in the investigation were not physically present when the transaction took place where testimony was presented establishing that officers installed recording equipment on a confidential informant prior to the narcotics transaction, the officers were familiar with scene where the transaction occurred, and the officers heard the transaction as it occurred by using a listening device); Brooks v. Commonwealth, 15 Va. App. 407, 410-411, 424 S.E.2d 566, 569 (Va. Ct. App. 1992) (finding a videotape of a narcotics transaction was properly authenticated despite the fact that no officers actually observed the transaction occur where testimony was presented establishing that the tape accurately reflected the events that officers listening to the transaction heard and the tape included an on-screen display of the passage of time in seconds). Notably, Detective Cothran was even able to confirm that a telephone conversation he personally had with Grant during the narcotics investigation was depicted in the recording. Under those circumstances, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting the recording of Grant's transaction with Appellant even though Detective Cothran only heard the events depicted in the recording. See Rule 901(b), SCRE (containing a non-exhaustive list of ways in which evidence can properly be authenticated, including through the testimony of a witness with knowledge that a matter is what it is claimed to be); see also Winburn, 261 S.C. at 576-577, 201 S.E.2d at 376 (instructing that evidence can be authenticated by indirect or circumstantial evidence). Accordingly, Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

II.

Any issue with the trial judge's presentation of an Allen charge to the jury was not properly preserved for appellate review because defense counsel did not contemporaneously object to the charge during trial and, instead, specifically stated that he had no objection after the charge was presented to the jury. However, regardless of any issue preservation concerns, the trial judge's supplemental instructions were not improper or unconstitutionally coercive because the instructions correctly encouraged the jury to make every reasonable effort to reach a verdict while even-handedly instructing the jurors in both the minority and majority to consider one another's opinions in addition to the own without surrendering their own beliefs simply to reach an agreement.

Appellant contends the trial judge committed reversible error in presenting an Allen charge to the jury after receiving a note indicating that the jurors had been unable to reach a unanimous verdict. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains that the trial judge's supplemental instructions were unconstitutionally coercive due to the facts that the instructions were allegedly directed at the lone minority juror, the trial judge was aware of the numerical division of the jury, and the trial judge discussed the costs that would be incurred if the case had to be retried. Initially, any issue with the trial judge's decision to give an Allen charge in Appellant's case was not preserved for appellate review because defense counsel did not object to the charge during trial and, instead, specifically informed the trial judge that he had no objection to the charge after it was given. However, even if the issue had somehow been preserved for appellate review, the trial judge's supplemental instructions to the jury, which conveyed to the jurors the importance of reaching a unanimous decision if possible and which asked both the minority and majority jurors to respectfully and carefully consider one another's opinions without surrendering their own opinions simply to reach an agreement, were entirely proper after the jurors indicated to the trial judge that they had been unable to agree upon a verdict in Appellant's case. Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

A. Issue Preservation

In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004). “If a party fails to properly object, the party is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal.” State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58-59, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005). “Imposing this preservation requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.” I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 725 (2000).

Regarding the requirement that a timely objection be raised, a defendant must make a **contemporaneous** objection to a perceived error **during trial** in order to preserve the issue for further review. State v. Blalock, 357 S.C. 74, 79, 591 S.E.2d 632, 635 (Ct. App. 2003); see State v. Hoffman, 312 S.C. 386, 393, 440 S.E.2d 869, 873 (1994) (“A contemporaneous objection is required to properly preserve an error for appellate review.”). Thus, when a perceived error arises, the defendant must object at the first opportunity to do so or the issue is waived. State v. Sullivan, 310 S.C. 311, 314, 426 S.E.2d 766, 768 (1993); see State v. Williams, 303 S.C. 410, 411, 401 S.E.2d 168, 169 (1991) (“A defendant must object at his first opportunity to preserve an issue for appellate review.”); see also State v. King, 349 S.C. 142, 157, n.1, 561 S.E.2d 640, 647 (Ct. App. 2002) (“[N]o objection was made contemporaneously with this testimony so as to preserve the issue for review. King’s belated objection to subsequent testimony came too late.”). “It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time in a post-trial

motion.” Bank of New York v. Sumter County, 387 S.C. 147, 159, 691 S.E.2d 473, 479 (2010).

In the case at bar, any issue with the trial judge’s presentation of the Allen charge was not properly preserved for appellate review. Significantly, after the trial judge received the note from the jury and indicated that he intended to give an Allen charge in response, defense counsel indicated he would “accept [the minority] juror’s opinion” but raised no objection to the trial judge’s proposal.⁴ Even more significantly, after the trial judge presented the Allen charge to the jury, defense counsel affirmatively stated that he had no objection to the charge. See State v. Brown, 402 S.C. 119, 125, 740 S.E.2d 493, 496 (2013) (holding that Brown’s issue with a jury instruction was not preserved for appellate review where Brown explicitly stated to the trial judge that he had no objection to the instruction); State v. Rios, 388 S.C. 335, 342, 696 S.E.2d 608, 612 (Ct. App. 2010) (“Even after the trial court specifically asked if there were any objections to the charges given, Rios responded, ‘None.’ By failing to contemporaneously object to the jury charges, Rios has waived his right to allege error on appeal.”). As no contemporaneous objection was raised to the trial judge’s supplemental instructions during trial, any issue with the instructions was waived and cannot now be considered on appeal. See State v. Pauling, 322 S.C. 95, 100, 470 S.E.2d 106, 109 (1996) (“Having denied the trial judge an opportunity to cure any alleged error by failing to contemporaneously object to the charge, Appellant is procedurally barred from raising these issues for the first time on appeal.”); see also State v. Williams, 266 S.C. 325, 335, 223 S.E.2d 38, 43 (1976) (“The

⁴ On appeal, Appellant contends that the Allen charge was given over his objection. (App. Br. p. 10). Notwithstanding the fact that defense counsel specifically confirmed he had no objection to the charge after it was given, defense counsel’s characterization of his post-trial challenge to the Allen charge as a “new motion” refutes Appellant’s appellate claim that an objection had been raised to the charge earlier during trial. (Tr. p. 143; p. 147).

rule in this State is firmly established that failure to object to a charge, or failure to request an additional charge when the opportunity is afforded, constitutes a waiver of any right to complain on appeal of an alleged error in the charge.”); State v. Black, 319 S.C. 515, 521, 462 S.E.2d 311, 315 (Ct. App. 1995) (“It is a fundamental principle that a contemporaneous objection is required at trial to properly preserve an error for appellate review.”).

Notably, defense counsel’s first and only objection to the Allen charge was raised **after** the jury returned with a verdict. See Bowers v. Charleston & W. Carolina Ry. Co., 210 S.C. 367, 371, 42 S.E.2d 705, 706 (1947) (not reviewing an issue on appeal where the issue was not raised at the time the allegedly objectionable argument was made but, instead, was raised for the first time in a motion for new trial made after the jury issued its verdict). However, pursuant to South Carolina’s issue preservation rules, defense counsel was not permitted to wait and see if the trial resulted in an outcome favorable to Appellant and then raise an objection to the charge if and when the desired outcome did not come to fruition. See State v. Penland, 275 S.C. 537, 538, 273 S.E.2d 765, 766 (1981) (“One may not preserve a vice until he learns what the result will be and then, take advantage of the error on appeal.”); State v. Burnett, 226 S.C. 421, 424, 85 S.E.2d 744, 746 (1954) (“A defendant may not reserve vices in his trial, of which he has notice as here, taking his chances of a favorable verdict, and in case of disappointment, use the error to obtain another trial.”); State v. Ballew, 83 S.C. 82, 87, 63 S.E. 688, 690 (1909) (“The general principle that a party can not take his chances of a successful issue, reserving vices in the trial, of which he has notice, for use in case of disappointment, is universally recognized and obviously just.”); see also State v. Logan, 279 S.C. 345, 348, 306 S.E.2d 622, 624 (1983) (“Appellant can neither take advantage of an error he

contributed to at trial nor preserve a vice and, upon learning of the outcome of trial, raise it on appeal.”). Accordingly, for the foregoing reasons, any issue with the trial judge’s Allen charge is not properly preserved for appellate review and cannot now be appropriately raised or addressed on appeal. See State v. Hale, 284 S.C. 348, 355, 326 S.E.2d 418, 423 (Ct. App. 1985) (“Hale concedes that no exception was taken to the ‘Allen’ charge in the trial court. Having denied the trial judge an opportunity to cure any alleged error by failing to object to the charge, Hale cannot properly raise the issue for the first time on appeal.”). Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

B. Propriety of the Trial Judge’s Supplemental Jury Instructions

In order for the judicial process to properly function, it is important for cases to reach a final resolution at some point. See Nickles v. Seaboard Air Line Ry., 74 S.C. 102, 142, 54 S.E. 255, 268 (1910) (“It is important that the trial of causes should be ended.”). As a result, trial judges have a duty to urge juries to agree upon a verdict. State v. Kelly, 372 S.C. 167, 171, 641 S.E.2d 468, 470 (Ct. App. 2007). However, trial judges are not permitted to coerce juries into doing so. See State v. Darr, 262 S.C. 585, 587, 206 S.E.2d 870, 870 (1974) (“It is the duty of the trial judge to urge the jury to agree upon a verdict provided he does not coerce them.”); State v. Ayers, 284 S.C. 266, 269, 325 S.E.2d 579, 581 (Ct. App. 1985) (“The trial judge has a duty to urge the jury to agree on a verdict, so long as he is not coercive.”).

“The typical judicial mechanism for encouraging an indecisive jury is the Allen charge, in which jurors are instructed on, among other things, their duties to approach the evidence with an open mind and consider the opinions of their fellow jurors.” State v. Robinson, 360 S.C. 187, 193, 600 S.E.2d 100, 103 (Ct. App. 2004). In giving the supplemental charge to the jury, a trial judge is permitted to encourage the jury to reach a

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